FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/16/2022 1:40 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court Number _____101464-3
Court of Appeals No. 56213-8-II
THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
SUPREME COURT

ERIC HOOD, an individual,

Appellant,

v.

CENTRALIA COLLEGE, a public agency,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Eric Hood, pro se 5256 Foxglove Lane, PO Box 1547 Langley, WA 98269 360.632.9134 ericfence@yahoo.com

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Petitioner Eric Hood ("Hood") requests discretionary review of Division II's unpublished opinion in *Eric Hood v*.

Centralia College, No. 56213-8-II, dated August 2, 2022.

Appendix. Hood's Motions for Reconsideration and Publication were denied October 17, 2022. Appendix.

By regularly requesting audit records from public agencies, Hood holds agencies accountable for both responding to state audits and for complying with the Public Records Act ("PRA"). This case hinges on one such request, submitted to Centralia College ("Respondent" or "College") for College's 2018 financial audit records. Hood asks this Court to review the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision holding that Hood's request was ambiguous, though it was plainly worded, and that College complied with the PRA, though it played games with his request.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Division II concluded that Hood's 2019 public records request asked for "identifiable records" pursuant to RCW 42.56.080(1) but unprecedentedly held that it provided no meaningful assistance to College in identifying responsive records. Division II failed to explain how a request for identifiable records does not identify responsive records. Division II also ignored College's continuing withholding of records, its obligation to seek clarification, and College's inadequate search and confusing communications with Hood.

This opinion, which contradicts decisions in Courts of Appeal, Supreme Court and federal courts, makes agencies masters rather than stewards of public records. Such radical changes to the PRA, Washington State's primary accountability tool, pose significant questions of law, are of great public interest and merit Supreme Court review of the following issues pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), RAP 13.4(b)(2), and RAP 13.4(b)(4):

- 1) Whether an agency complies with the PRA where it fails to honor a request for identifiable records, in part by ignoring a portion of the request.
- 2) Whether an agency may seek clarification where the request is objectively clear.
- Whether an agency "seeks clarification" pursuant to RCW 42.56.520(d) when the agency a) describes only some responsive documents and asks if they are sufficient to satisfy the requestor, b) ignores requestors' attempt to determine if the agency possessed responsive records in addition to the limited set it described and c) did not resume its search after the requestor responded to the purported request for clarification.
- 4) Whether an agency meets its burden to show its search was sufficient where the agency kept no records of its search method and conducted a narrow search in response to a broad request.
- 5) Whether an agency may withhold records that were identified as responsive during the course of litigation.
- 6) Whether a pro se requestor is entitled to consulting attorney's fees where litigation demands procedural and esoteric knowledge of Washington Courts.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Although Division II concluded that Hood had made a request for "identifiable records" pursuant to RCW 42.56.080(1), it also held that the request was ambiguous because it could have "multiple interpretations." *Opinion*, p. 7, 17. As shown below, even if a request is ambiguous, an agency must legitimately request clarification.

A. Request and response

On September 23, 2019, Hood requested "all records [College] got from the auditor and all records of any response to the [State Auditor's Office 2018 Financial] audit or to the audit report." CP 64.¹

In her October 8, 2019 response, public records officer
Julie Huss:

- claimed "I am working on your request"
- provided some responsive records, i.e., audit reports ("Reports")

¹ In response to an initial, legitimate request for clarification, Hood clarified that he was "referring to the [State Auditor's Office ("SAO")] Financial Audit for 2018 [that] resulted in Report No. 102343." CP 64,

• described "documents" she had compiled (in addition to the audit reports) and told Hood their exact total cost.

CP 63.

After having compiled said "documents," Huss said she found Hood's request to be "a little big [sic] ambiguous." Rather than ask a clarifying question or specify any particular ambiguity in Hood's request, she instead posed a negative question, viz., whether the records she had described were "not what you are requesting." *Id*.

Unsure how to reply, Hood said he was "not sure what is ambiguous" and inquired whether "the documents you mentioned were the only ones you received from the auditor? And do you have any responses to the audit or the audit report?" *Id*.

Huss did not answer Hood's questions or identify any ambiguity. She instead again described the records she had already compiled and said, "These are the documents that make up that \$1.80 cost." CP 62. She also mentioned "an

engagement letter which initiates the audit process [...] and emails about scheduling meetings" and claimed she was "trying to frame search parameters based on what I understand you are asking for." CP 63.

Hood replied he was "most interested in records showing [College's] response to the audit. Since I don't know what how it responded, I don't know how I can be clearer." *Id*.

On October 9, 2019, Huss closed her response: "Sounds good." *Id.* Hood received records on November 4, 2019. (CP 189-191 shows complete Hood-College communications.)

Significantly, Huss did not:

- answer whether College had records it "received from the auditor" or "any responses to the audit or the audit report" other than what she had compiled or described,
- produce the "engagement letter" and "scheduling" emails,
- conduct any further search based on her communications with Hood. *Id*.

B. College's initial and subsequent search

College performed a cursory search in response to

Hood's request and did not enhance that search when Hood's
correspondence indicated a broad reading of his request. The
only details provided by College about its search show it:

- searched the files of only three employees, Huss, Miller and Schierman, and could not "speak directly to the actions [Schierman] took during the search process." CP 93.
- did not conduct "a College-wide electronic search." CP 231, ln. 2;
- did not search its "Board of Trustees" ("Board") files, even though the SAO "share[d] the results of the audit" with College's Board, its "governing body." CP 159.

College does not know how much time it spent searching for responsive records, what dates that search was performed, the search terms queried, or the date range for which it searched.

Compare CP 94 with CP 89, ln 19.

In response to Hood's trial court Opening Brief, College employee Huss made surprising assertions to the trial court that

weren't provided in response to either Hood's PRA or discovery requests, including:

- College's understanding that "records surrounding the formal and informal response to the audit report and management letter were what Mr. Hood was seeking." CP 230 ¶9.
- College's understanding that "response to the audit" meant only "the College's response to the audit report, which would be the found in the audit report itself, and the College's financial statements, which contain the items addressed in the audit report." *Compare Id. with* CP 96, ln. 6.
- Miller and Schierman "consulted with [responding employee Huss] throughout the search process." CP 231 ¶11.
- "Schierman determined that she did not have responsive e-mail records beyond copies of records already provided by Ms. Miller." *Id*.

Huss's affidavit did not explain:

- how a response to the "audit" (a process) differed from a response to the "audit report" (the result of the audit process). *Id*.
- how "formal" differed from "informal" responses or how Huss was able to determine that Hood "was seeking" them. *Id*.
- how Huss was able to know what the absent Schierman had personally "determined." *Id*.
 ¶11

Although College's discovery response identified only Huss and two other employees as having "maintained records related to the audit," it nonetheless produced records showing that at least five other employees possessed audit records.

Compare CP 92 with CP 160, 162, 164. (SAO-College emails involving College employees produced in response to Hood's discovery), and with CP 171 (Board minutes discussing audit and mentioning Board members).

College ultimately produced approximately 1737 pages of records that were "related to" but, it argued, "outside the scope" of Hood's PRA request. *Compare* CP 120-121 *with* CP 376-378. They included communications it got from and its responses to the SAO, and records related to the cost of the audit. CP 159-168. College also admitted that it possessed a responsive "document." CP 94, ln. 20-25. The "document" included emails College got from the SAO. CP 124-126. It was located on College's "Server [...] and in the email inbox of Andrea Schierman." CP 180, ln.12.

The SAO directed the "management letter," engagement letter (CP 159) and audit report (CP 246-247) specifically to College's Board. College continues to withhold Board minutes showing that a Board member "added that the audit was clean with just some minor management notes." CP 171. College did not search its Board's files because "Records of Board actions in minutes or Board policies were not likely to contain any College response to the Audit minutes that mention the audit." CP 378.

C. Procedures

and motion for reconsideration. Division II upheld the trial court's finding that Hood failed to provide clarification of his request for identifiable records, but significantly extended the trial court's conclusion, finding that Hood's request provided "no assistance" to College in locating records. *Opinion*, p. 16. *And see id.*, p. 20 ("Given the ambiguity of Hood's initial")

request and his communications in response to Huss's request for clarification, Huss' response and interpretation of the request was reasonable.") It also found that Hood is not entitled to consulting attorney fees and costs if he prevailed. *Id.*, p. 30.

IV. ARGUMENT

- A. Review is appropriate because Division II's opinion conflicts with appellate court decisions, including decisions from this court.
- In conflict with appellate court decisions, including
 Division II's, the instant opinion does not require
 agencies to honor requests for identifiable records.

Division II's holding ignored a certain portion of Hood's request, as did College in its response: both forgot that Hood requested "all records [College] got from the auditor." College did not, i.e., could not argue that Hood's request for "all records it got from the auditor" was ambiguous. Yet, with minimal

discussion of this portion of Hood's request, Division II held that Hood's request provided "no assistance" to the agency.

Opinion, p, 16. ² If so, then College had no basis for understanding that Hood wanted the Reports that "it got from the auditor." Yet College produced the Reports.

Since College understood that Hood's request encompassed at least the Reports, it *therefore* understood that Hood's request encompassed emails, *also* which "it got from the auditor." CP 64. In other words, College's production of *some* records "it got from the auditor" was an *arbitrary* limitation of Hood's request. Division II's ruling thus conflicts with its decision that agencies must honor a request's actual wording:

West requested records "concerning any agreements, policies, procedures, or understandings related to the acquisition, use, or operation of stingray technology." CP at 9. Because Smith's failure to conduct an e-mail search in response to West's 2014 request and because Smith

² Compare to CP 97 ("there was no limiting language that was specific enough to conduct a search for responsive records.")

restricted West's 2014 request to less than its actual wording, we hold that the City's search was not adequate beyond a material doubt.

West v. City of Tacoma, 456 P.3d 894, 915 (Wn. Ct. App. 2020) (emphasis added).

Hood's request for "all records [College] got from the auditor" was, if anything, more specific than West's because it encompassed only records College "got from the auditor," not other "related" but unidentified records. Like City of Tacoma, College improperly failed to conduct a system-wide "email search" in response to Hood's broad request and restricted Hood's request to "less than its actual wording." Id.

By contrast, Division II here held that though Hood's request undisputedly assisted College to find some records (e.g., Reports), it had no duty to understand the full category of responsive records (e.g., invoices) that College "got from the auditor." Division II's workaround of this logical inconsistency involved finding that:

[Hood] requested records that related to the 2018 financial audit, and this was a valid request for records

pertaining to a specific topic.[....T]he language of his request 'all records it got from the auditor' does not appear to relate to the 2018 financial audit and the request provides no meaningful description to assist Huss in locating the records sought.

Opinion p. 16-17.

This finding ignores conventional canons of interpretation and College's explicit confirmation that "Hood's public records request related to Audit Report 1023438, which was an audit of the College's Fiscal Year 2018 Financial Statements." CP 207- 208 ³ (emphasis added). Significantly, Division II did not, indeed cannot identify what the phrase "all records it got from the auditor" could "appear to relate to" other than the "2018 financial audit." Opinion, p. 17. And even if Hood's request was unrelated to a specific audit, a request for all records an agency received from a particular source does request "identifiable records." 42.56.080(1).

But because Hood's request *admittedly* "related to" the SAO's 2018 financial audit of College, it necessarily identified

³ See Appendix A, Motion for Reconsideration, p.2-7.

every audit-related "record" (42.56.010(3)) that College "got from the auditor," not merely the ones it arbitrarily produced. Since College understood the relationship between Hood's request and its 2018 audit records, then it was required to honor Hood's request by making *all*, not just some of them "promptly available." *Gronquist v. Department of Corrections*, No. 39651-3-II, 6 (Wn. Ct. App. Mar. 4, 2011)).

Division II's opinion is based in part on a tortured reading of *Hangartner v. City of Seattle*, 151 Wn.2d 439, 447, 90 P.3d 26 (2004) in which this court held that a requestor must "identify [requested] documents with reasonable clarity to allow the agency to locate them." But *Hangartner* is inapposite. Unlike Hood's request, the request in *Hangartner* "could not have been any broader." *Id., at* 449.

If a state agency does not know what records it received from the SAO during the course of an official audit, then Washington state is in serious trouble. The far more likely explanation however, is that College did not bother to think

through Hood's request and produced only the first records that came to mind. By producing the audit Reports, College showed it knew that Hood's request for identifiable records pertaining to a specific audit was necessarily limited its scope.

For good reason, the PRA doesn't require more than the "minimum" from a requester. *Id.* Suppose *arguendo*, a requester asked for "all records Agency got from Jane Doe." All too commonly the agency will produce a few emails and close the request. The PRA does not require the requester to additionally examine the emails and then ask for unproduced attachments. Why? Because the agency could then produce the attachments without mentioning that it *also* got paper records from Jane Doe that the requester could not know about and thus did not request. "Under the [PRA] only one request should suffice." *Yousoufian v. Office of Ron Sims, King Cty. Exec.*, 165 Wn. 2d 439, 458, 461 200 P.3d 232, 240 (2009).

Division II confirmed that *Yousoufian* applies even when an agency considers a request overbroad:

The City also argues that the plaintiffs' use of the phrase "'all records regarding [the police department]'s use . . . of Cell Site Simulators'" was overbroad and not allowed under the PRA because the language did not specifically "identify the records sought." Br. of Appellant at 17 (bold face omitted). But this argument is misplaced because "a request for all records *regarding a particular topic* . . . shall *not* be considered a request for all of an agency's records" and thus is not overbroad under the statute. RCW 42.56.080(1)

Banks v. City of Tacoma, No. 52072-9-II, 16 (Wn. Ct. App. Jun. 2, 2021) (ellipses, brackets and emphasis in original).

Here, Division II mistook Hood's broad request for an ambiguous request. (*Opinion*, p. 16-17). Division II confused "multiple interpretations" of a request (*id*.) with multiple kinds of records. A reasonable interpretation of "all records [College] got from the auditor" would guide an agency to both Reports and e.g., invoices it got from the auditor. In short, when a request asks for all records regarding a particular topic, "All means all." *Cantu v. Yakima Sch. Dist. No.* 7, 514 P. 3d 661 (2022)

By contrast with *West*, *Banks*, and *Cantu*, *supra*, Division II's instant holding effectively requires a requester to either

narrow a broad request for identifiable records or somehow "identify" records in the sole possession of an agency, i.e., *guess*.

A requester's sole duties under the PRA are to make a request for identifiable records and respond to actual, unambiguous requests for clarification (discussed *infra*). When a requester makes a broad request for identifiable, i.e., locatable records *and* point-blank asks "are the documents you mentioned [...] the only ones" (CP 63), then said requester is *not* required to guess about other records an agency might possess. In short, *a request for identifiable records identifies* records, thus, the PRA requires agencies to literally interpret and respond to a request's actual wording, i.e., "honor" requests. RCW 42.56.080(2).

In addition to *West*, *Bank*s, *Cantu*, and *Yousoufian*, *supra*, higher courts burden the agency with honoring a request, including:

- ("The request [for all records regarding a specific topic] was not qualified nor ambiguous. Given the strong presumption in favor of full disclosure, an agency should not unreasonably assume a narrow interpretation of a request.[...] After applying a broad interpretation, if any ambiguity remains, it is incumbent upon the [agency] to clarify that ambiguity [...The agency] and the trial court applied a narrow interpretation to Ms. Cantu's request by assuming she meant to limit the request [...]. This is an unreasonable assumption and an unreasonable interpretation of the request. All means all.") *Cantu v. Yakima Sch. Dist. No.* 7, 514 P. 3d 661 (2022).
- (RCW 42.56.080's "requirement of identification is satisfied when there is a reasonable description enabling the government employee to locate the requested records") *Bonamy v. City of Seattle*, 92 Wn. App. 410, 960 P.2d 447 (1998)
- other State appellate and federal court opinions cited in Hood's *Motion for Reconsideration*, Section IV, 1b,c,d.

2. **Division II allows agencies to improperly** request clarification.

As argued *supra*, since College described and thus understood that *some* records were responsive to Hood's objectively clear request, then College was required to search for all records he had identified. Based on RCW 42.56. 520(d)(1), the Attorney General instructs that seeking clarification when a request is objectively clear "delays access to public records." WAC 44-14-04003(8).

Although multiple court opinions require a "legitimate" follow-up inquiry for clarification," as opposed to one intending delay, (see, e.g., Yousoufian v. Office of Ron Sims, 168 Wn.2d 444, 467, 229 P.3d 735 (2010)), Hood finds no published State appellate decision that determines what is "legitimate."

Division I's unpublished holding is instructive.

The County contends that it "is not withholding records, silent or otherwise." It points out that in the letter accompanying the CD produced in response to request K024672, the County "explicitly informed Mr. Strahm

that it believed the records provided in response to K024672 fulfilled his request" and told him that "if he was looking for additional records, he needed to contact the County within 30 days." The County asserts that Strahm's failure to timely clarify his request vitiates his silent withholding claim. But Strahm's request clearly included a request for warrants. Thus, even assuming that the County's letter constituted a valid request for clarification, Strahm's failure to respond has no bearing on whether the County silently withheld the warrants in the first instance

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