FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/3/2023 11:57 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101464-3

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ERIC HOOD, an individual,

Petitioner,

V.

CENTRALIA COLLEGE, a public agency,

Respondent.

## RESPONDENT CENTRALIA COLLEGE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON *Attorney General* 

JUSTIN KJOLSETH, WSBA # 46859
Assistant Attorney General
OID No. 91035
P. O. Box 40100
Olympia, WA 98504-0100
(360) 586-0727
Justin.Kjolseth@atg.wa.gov
Attorney for Centralia College

### **

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

### I. INTRODUCTION

In 2019, Centralia College received an ambiguous public records request for nondescript, broad categories of records and immediately contacted the requester to seek clarification. Based on a series of e-mail exchanges, the College reasonably concluded that it had correctly identified the scope of the request and conducted a reasonable search, then promptly disclosed the responsive records to Petitioner, Eric Hood. The College communicated its interpretation clearly. Mr. Hood's responses to requests for clarification confirmed the College's interpretation of his ambiguous request. After delivering the documents to Mr. Hood, the College did not hear from him again until roughly a year later, when he filed his pro se Public Records Act lawsuit just before expiration of the statute of limitations.

The unpublished Court of Appeals decision correctly applied well-established public records case law when it held the College properly requested clarification, conducted a search reasonably calculated to uncover the responsive records, and did

not violate the Public Records Act. The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with longstanding case law requiring that agencies respond to requests for identifiable records, bear the burden of establishing that a search is adequate, and justify any withholdings or redactions. Mr. Hood's disagreement with the application of those long-established precedents to these specific facts does not present an issue of substantial public interest. This Court should deny review.

### II. COUNTER-STATEMENT OF ISSUES<sup>1</sup>

1. Did the Court of Appeals properly apply public records case law when it held that the College reasonably interpreted Mr. Hood's clarifying communications, conducted a search reasonably calculated to uncover the records sought, and provided the records to Mr. Hood?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mr. Hood's petition does not seek review of the Court of Appeals' rejection of his argument related to the College's estimate of time. *Hood v. Centralia College*, 23 Wn. App. 2d 1003, 2022 WL 3043208, at \*10 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 2, 2022). (unpublished)

2. Did the Court of Appeals properly apply public records case law when it held that Mr. Hood is not entitled to attorney's fees when he is not a prevailing party, not an attorney, and where there is no evidence that attorney's fees are connected to the litigation?

### III. COUNTER-STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. The College's Response To Hood's Public Records Request

In September 2019, Mr. Hood made a public records request to Centralia College's public records e-mail address. The initial request stated: "I learned that your organization was recently audited by the state auditor. May I have all records it got from the auditor and all records of any response to the audit or to the audit report?" CP 307. The Public Records Officer, Julie Huss, promptly responded the same day, asking for clarification about which audit he was referencing in his request. CP 306. Mr. Hood indicated that he was asking for records associated with a 2018 audit. *Id*.

As Ms. Huss worked on the request, she again reached out to Mr. Hood to provide links to two documents she thought were responsive and to inform him of her understanding of the scope of his request. At the end of her message, she asked for him to let her know if he wanted additional documents. She stated:

Your request is a little big [sic] ambiguous. I have interpreted it to mean you are asking for the Audit Report (attached/linked above), the management letter issued by the state auditor's office, and emails in response to the management letter. The cost for the documents not included in this email is \$1.80. [I]f this is not what you are requesting, please let me know.

CP 305. Mr. Hood's response to this inquiry was as follows: "I am not sure what is ambiguous. Are the documents you mentioned the only ones you received from the auditor? And do you have any responses to the audit or the audit report?" *Id*. In a further effort to clarify what records he was requesting, Ms. Huss replied:

There is an email with a draft management letter attached. There is an email string about the draft management letter talking about the items in the draft and scheduling the exit interview from the audit and the final management letter. These are the documents that make up that \$1.80 cost.

At the start of the audit process, the auditor sends an engagement letter which initiates the audit process. I believe there are emails about scheduling meetings for the auditors to do the audit process. I don't have a count as to how many documents fall into this category yet.

I am trying to frame search parameters based on what I understand you are asking for and see what is responsive.

CP 304–05. Mr. Hood answered: "Thanks for the info. I am most interested in records showing the City's [sic] response to the audit. Since I don't know what [sic] how it responded, I don't know how I can be clearer." CP 304. Ms. Huss interpreted this statement as an indication that Mr. Hood wanted the communications showing the College's informal and formal response to the audit report and management letter, which she understood as the intended meaning of the term "response to the audit" in Mr. Hood's e-mail. CP 230.

Once Ms. Huss reached this understanding of Mr. Hood's request, she identified the relevant College employees who might

have responsive records. CP 230–31. Ms. Huss worked with College employees to identify the College's response to the audit report and management letter. CP 231, 208. After reviewing the records with both employees, Ms. Huss determined that she had assembled all of the documents responsive to Mr. Hood's request. CP 232.

Ms. Huss then informed Mr. Hood that the responsive records would cost \$1.80 in processing fees on October 9, 2019. Mr. Hood paid the records fee, received the responsive records, and did not state that he disagreed with the Colleges' stated understanding of his request or was dissatisfied with the College's response until he filed a lawsuit in this nearly a year later, just before expiration of the one-year statute of limitations. *Id*.

### **B.** Procedural History

In late October 2020, Mr. Hood, filed a pro se lawsuit against the College alleging violations of the PRA. CP 1–6. In the course of discovery for that lawsuit, Mr. Hood issued a

document request that was significantly broader than his original public records request. CP 120–21. In a discovery conference, the scope of the request was further broadened. CP 82.

In response to the broad discovery request, the College conducted a wide-ranging search of all documents to or from the State Auditor's Office between September 2018 and mid-March 2019, which captured records unrelated to the 2018 audit about which Mr. Hood had requested records. CP 226. The response to the discovery request included over 2,500 pages of e-mails and attachments, most of which had nothing to do with the audit that was the subject of Mr. Hood's public records request. CP 220, 226.

The College moved for summary judgment. The Superior Court granted summary judgment in favor of the College, holding that it met its PRA obligations. CP 335–38. The Court found that Hood's public records request was open to multiple, subjective interpretations. CP 337. The Court found that the College reasonably interpreted and otherwise adequately

responded to Mr. Hood's public records request. *Id.* On appeal, Division II issued an unpublished opinion affirming the Superior Court's decision, applying well-settled case law on the issues of seeking clarification to a public records request, adequately searching for public records, and denying attorney fees to a party who does not prevail. *Hood*, 2022 WL 3043208. Mr. Hood now seeks review of that unpublished decision.

### IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The trial court and the Court of Appeals correctly applied appellate decisions that recognize an agency's right to seek clarification of a public records request and require an agency to conduct a search reasonably calculated to uncover the responsive records. Mr. Hood does not identify any conflict that allows for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

## A. The Court of Appeals Decision Is Consistent with Established Public Records Act Case Law

The Court of Appeals applied well-established principles.

Consistent with—and expressly relying upon—Neighborhood

Alliance of Spokane Cnty and Bonamy, the Court of Appeals

applied the settled principle that agencies may seek clarification of PRA requests. *Hood*, 2022 WL 3043208 at \*\*8–10. Consistent with—and expressly relying upon—*Block* and *Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane Cnty*, the Court of Appeals held the College to its burden of showing that the search was adequate and affirmed the trial court's findings that the agency's search was reasonable. *Hood*, 2022 WL 3043208 at \*\*10–13; *Block v. City of Gold Bar*, 189 Wn. App. 262, 355 P.3d 266 (2015), *review denied*, 184 Wn.2d 1037, 379 P.3d 951 (2016). There is no conflict that would justify review.

1. The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with appellate decisions regarding an agency's ability to request clarification under the Public Records Act

The Court of Appeals properly and reasonably determined that Hood's request was sufficiently ambiguous to warrant further clarifying conversations. It is well established that, under RCW 42.56.520, agencies may seek clarification of PRA requests. *E.g.*, *Bonamy v. City of Seattle*, 92 Wn. App. 403, 410, 960 P.2d 447 (1998), *review denied*, 137 Wn.2d 1012, 978 P.2d

1099 (1999); Kleven v. City of Des Moines, 111 Wn. App. 284, 294, 44 P.3d 887 (2002), recons. denied (2022). In fact, an agency that is "unclear about what was requested, . . . [is] required to seek clarification." Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane Cnty. v. Spokane County, 172 Wn.2d 702, 727, 261 P.3d 119 (2011) (emphasis added).

In the present case, the Court of Appeals decision falls in line with *Kleven* and *Bonamy*. Given the request's ambiguity, the College was more than justified in following-up with Mr. Hood to determine the scope of the search. In those clarifying communications, Ms. Huss specifically identified the documents she thought were within the scope of the request and asked Mr. Hood to let her know if he was asking for something different. CP 305. His response did not initially indicate whether those documents were all that he wanted, but, after a second attempt at clarification, Mr. Hood clarified that his interest was focused on records relating to the College's response to the audit. CP 304.

The Court of Appeals here engaged in the routine task of applying settled law about clarification of PRA requests to Mr. Hood's case. Under that unchallenged precedent, the Court of Appeals concluded that the College properly sought clarification and structured its search around that clarification.

Mr. Hood relies on an unpublished Court of Appeals decision to attempt to establish a conflict between the Court of Appeals' application of the law in this case and applications in other cases. Petition at p. 25 (citing Strahm v. Snohomish County, 12 Wn. App. 2d 1068, 2020 WL 1644353 (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 23, 2020) (unpublished)). Even if there were an inconsistency, it would not justify review under RAP 13.4(b)(2), which applies only to conflict "with a *published* decision of the Court of Appeals." (Emphasis added.) And there is no inconsistency. Strahm is easily distinguishable here, because in that case there was no back-and-forth clarifying conversation with the requester to narrow down the potentially responsive records, unlike this case. 2020 WL 1644353, at \*11.

# 2. The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with appellate decisions regarding agency obligations to search for records under the Public Records Act

The Court of Appeals also applied the long-established principle that agencies must conduct a search reasonably calculated to produce the records sought by the requestor, and to disclose those records to the requestor. *Hood*, 2022 WL 3043208 at \*\*10-13. The focus is not whether responsive documents in fact exist, but whether the search itself was adequate. Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane Cnty, 172 Wn.2d at 719–20; see also Hobbs v. State, 183 Wn. App. 925, 944, 335 P.3d 1004 (2014) ("[W]e inquire into the scope of the agency's search as a whole and whether that search was reasonable, not whether the requester has presented alternatives that he believes would have more accurately produced the records he requested."). The burden of establishing that the search was adequate is on the agency. Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane *Cnty*, 172 Wn.2d at 721.

The Court of Appeals properly applied longstanding precedent when it concluded that the College conducted an adequate search for responsive records. The Court of Appeals relied on *Neighborhood Alliance*, *Kleven*, and *Block. Hood*, 2022 WL 3043208, at \*\*10–12.

Applying those cases, the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed summary judgment. The College satisfied its burden on summary judgment through affidavits from several employees, including Marla Miller, Samuel Small, and Julie Huss.<sup>2</sup> affidavits demonstrate CP 207–307. Those that, after determining the scope of the search, Ms. Huss worked with these employees to ensure that the responsive documents were provided. After determining the scope of the search, Ms. Huss worked with these employees. CP 230-31. Ms. Huss consulted with them regularly during the search process to ensure they were providing the appropriate records. CP 208, 231. The employees

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ms. Schierman was no longer employed with the College during the course of this litigation. CP 94.

searched their electronic and physical records and produced 68 pages of responsive records that were provided to Mr. Hood, including e-mails. CP 235–303.

Mr. Hood does not identify any conflict between the Court of Appeals' application of the standard in this case and any other published appellate decision. Mr. Hood's Petition relies heavily on *West v. City of Tacoma*, 12 Wn. App. 2d 45, 456 P.3d 894 (2020), but *West* is readily distinguishable on two grounds. First, in this case the College had a clarifying conversation with Mr. Hood that informed the scope of its search. CP 304–05. No such clarifying conversation took place in *West*. Second, unlike the City of Tacoma in *West*, here the College did search for e-mails, as detailed in the affidavits submitted by College employees. CP 207–307. In *West*, the City of Tacoma entirely failed to search for e-mails. 12 Wn. App. 2d at 80–81.

Similarly, this case is readily distinguishable from the unpublished decision in *Banks v. City of Tacoma*, 17 Wn. App. 2d 1064, 2021 WL 2229038 (Wash. Ct. App. Jun. 2, 2021)

(unpublished). In *Banks*, and unlike here, there was no clarifying conversation with the requesters about the meaning of the request or the desirability of specific sets of records. *Id.* at \*2.

Likewise, the Court of Appeals decision in this matter does not conflict with *Cantu v. Yakima School District No. 7*, 23 Wn. App. 2d 57, 514 P.3d 57 (2022). *Cantu* stands for the proposition that, if a request is ambiguous, "it is incumbent upon the [agency] to clarify that ambiguity." *Cantu*, 23 Wn. App. 2d at 99. That is precisely what the College did here. CP 304–05.

The *O'Dea* case is distinguishable because here, the College provided the additional documents immediately upon finding them in discovery. *See O'Dea v. City of Tacoma*, 19 Wn. App. 2d 67, 82, 493 P.3d 1245 (2021); Petition at p. 29. Where *O'Dea* involved the withholding of records that were known to the agency, no such withholding of known records took place in this case. Hood cites to *Yousoufian* but never explains how it conflicts with the Court of Appeals decision in this case. Petition at pp. 20, 22.

The Court of Appeals applied the correct public records case law when it concluded the College conducted an adequate search. Hood has not established any conflict warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

## B. The Denial of Attorney Fees To a Non-Prevailing Pro Se Public Records Litigant Aligns with Decisions of This Court

The Court of Appeals properly determined that Mr. Hood was not entitled to costs and attorney's fees. The PRA provides for the award of costs and attorneys' fees to a prevailing party against a state agency. RCW 42.56.550(4). The denial of attorneys' fees to a person who is neither a prevailing party nor an attorney does not conflict with any published appellate decision.

The cases cited by Mr. Hood each involved a prevailing party public records requester who was represented by an attorney, and therefore, entitled to attorney's fees on a statutory basis. *See* Petition at pp. 30–31. *Spokane Research and Def. Fund v. City of Spokane*, 155 Wn. 2d 89, 99,104, 117 P.3d

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